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Plate 1Phot0(:;rap taken during the infi ing of Limekiln Dock, 1903-1906, looking north
York Collection, Bristol City Museum and Art Gallery
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Fig 1 Site location, with excavation aea blocked in. SiteAl outlined
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Excavations at the Site of the Former Limekiln Dock,
Hotwells Road, Harbourside, Bristol

Simon Cox and others sequently cleaned by hand, recorded and levelled
relative to Ordnance Survey datum. An evaluation
Intr oduction trench to test for the survival of the glass works com-

An archaeological excavation of Site Alplex, located adjacent to the Brandon Shed, was aban-

Harbourside, Bristol (ST 57832 72537) (Fig 1) Wagoned owing to the hazardous nature of the made
undertaken by Bristol and Region Archaeologicdi™ound around the gas works. The trench had ex-
Services (BaRAS) at the request of Beaultest- posed a concrete surface at around 8m OD.

ern Ltd. This followed a desktop study and evalua- .

tion of the archaeological potential of the site, angiStorical Backgorund

forms part of a broad scheme of archaeological docu-

mentary research and fieldwork complementing thEne sité formerly lay on the boundary of the new

area. within the city parish of SAugustines, the western

half within the Clifton parish which was absorbed

Until late 1998 the site was occupied by GratamPY the city in 1835. The boundary to the city and
TimberYard on the western side, formerly the sit®arishes in the medieval period followed the course
of a dry dock, Limekiln Dock, and on the easterff Woodwells &ream that flowed down Brandon Hill

side by the remains of the Gas Ferry Lane gas worlPProximately where Jacol¢ells Road is today
formerly the site of a glasshouse.The site covers a _ _ _

triangular area of land (approximately 14,400 squaf&!ring the medieval period the site and the surround-
metres) at the extreme western end of Cankaairsh, N9 area would have been wet low lying land at the
Bristol, adjacent to the junction between Hotwell¥/€Stern end of tSAugustines Marsh, otherwise
Road, Jacob®Vells Road and\nchor Road (Fig Known as Canos’Marsh, so called because the area

1).The site is bordered to the north by the roundi2rmed part of the estate of. Bugustines Abbey
bout junction of Jacob'Wells and Hotwells Road, (NOW Bristol Cathedral). The study area would, at
south by the Floating Harbour and east by Gas Feffy/S time, have stood on the Riv&von approxi-
Lane. The site lies at approximately 10 m above Orglately 1km to the west of the medieval docks.
nance Datum (OD). The immediate underlying ge-

ology is Estuarine Alluvium overlying Carbonifer- 1 he Glasshouse Complex

ous mudstone with coal bands and pale grey quartzi!ring the 17th century the area of the site to the
sandstone. east of the parish boundary appears to have been de-

veloped for industrial purposes. A map dated 1693

The brief for the excavation was to expose and recddt Captain Greenville Collins shows a glasshouse
the layout of the eastern side of the Limekiln Dock'ﬂ,md several structures called limekilns in the vicin-
and the adjacent dockside buildings identified by tH& of the site. The date of the glasshouse and
desktop study as a mill and engine house.The wotRekilns is not known. An earlier map by Jacobus
was undertaken between 5 January and 28 Februlfijlerd in 1673 does not extend far enough west to
1999 by Bristol and Region Archaeological Service$how the site but a perspective view by Millerd of
Thanks are extended to the site fsfafdrew King, the same date shows agarfactory-like structure in
Ally Kennen and Jens Samuel.The historicdhe approximate area of the glasshouse shown on
background was contributed by Peter Insole. THeollins” map.

illustrations were produced by Daviiiare andinn
Linge. Rocques map of 1742 marks the position of the glass-

house with an adjoining building to the east and other
The site archive is deposited at Bristol City Museuruildings to the north and west (Fig 2). A survey of

under accession number CMAG.1998.012. Canons Marsh by James Hartley for the Dean and
Chapter of Bristol Cathedral dated 1770 shows the
Methodology same buildings as Rocgsemap and lists them as

surfaces and overburden were removed by mecha@i@sshouse and thefioe to the north being used for
cal excavatoThe archaeological features were sutz0al and bottle yardghe lagest building to the west
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Fig 3 Plumley andAshmead’s 1828 map
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Fig 2 Rocques 1742 map
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is recorded as bein@lass House Offices and court assignment by John Blandgresumably Edwars’

A limekiln is also shown on this 1770 survey towardson, of the house and dock to Captain Joseph

the south eastern corner of the site. The area of fBeborne, a maringin 1780 the lease was taken over

glasshouse complex is listed by the survey as beihg Jeremiah Osborne, Joseplson.A plan dated

leased from the Dean and Chapter by John Nicholds.92 (Fig 4) by Benjamin Donne showing Richard
Tombs’proposals for a Floating Harbour shows the

Plumley andAshmeads map of 1828 shows theLimekiln Dock but calls it MrOsbourns Dock.

glasshouse and similar surrounding buildings as the

18th century maps (Fig 3). ) ’ ”

Gsle 30 Pour

The glasshouse and associatdite$ survived until

1837 when the gas works to the east of Gas Fe
Lane were extended west, a gas tank being built o
the area of the glass cone. A former engine housges
retort house (both Grade Il listed buildings) and ja 4 %s
brick chimney survive from the gas works. '

nsy Be erected om Per A
'
SAT STenaLs

The Area of the Limekiln Dock
To the west of the glasshouse a mud-dock is said|to
have been formed from the pill where t®od-

Wells and Jacob-¥lls streams flowed into the river
This mud-dock is reputed to date to 1626 although
no primary evidence could be found to support th|s
date. Neither Millerds perspective view of 1673 nor
Collin’s map of 1693 mark a dock in the area of tHe
site.

In 1676 the area of the site within the Clifton paris
was purchased by the Society of Merchdantur

ers. The earliest reference to Limekiln Dock is in g
lease from the society to a shipwright, John Evans,
held in the Society of Merchaknturers archives.

This document datedl10ctober 1710 records the
lease of: Fig4 Tombs' 1792 pioposal fora new floating harbour

‘ahouse Iatel_y built by t_he said John Evans....anfl similar map of Jessap'original proposals for a
also all that piece of void gund on parwheeof  r4ating Harbour dated 1802, calls the dock
a dock lately made by him the said John Evang,gyqrnes Dock (Fig 5). From this plan we can see
being near to the said messuage of tenementyg,, small the Limekiln Dock is, compared to most
the said parish of Clifton’. of the other dry docks in the harbour at that time.

-

This document suggests that the Limekiln Dock dategaspite being calleddsbornes Dock in 1802 the
to the early 18th century and was built by the shigaase of the house and dock had changed from the
wright John Evans. It is possible that a mud-docysphorne family to John Roach in 1794. Then in 1798

pre-existed John Evans’ construction and that thge | imekiln Dock, house andgpniseswere leased
document is referring to the creation of a dry docly Ropert Bush.

on the site. Rocque’'map of 1742 marks the posi-

tion of a dry dock on the site (Fig 2), and shows th&hen the Floating Harbour was completed in 1809
parish boundary immediately to the east of the do¢ke dock was being leased to Hilhouse and Company
and two buildings, one to the north, the other to thene of Bristols most prestigious ship building com-
west. Either of these structures could be the houganies, who sought compensation for the fact that
built by John Evans. Limekiln Dock could no longer be used as a dry dock.

However reconstruction allowed it to continue as a
Further records of leases held by the Society @fy dock through the 19th century

Merchantenturers record other owners through the
18th centuryln 1712 the house and dock were leasetPseph Mattheve’ map of 1815 and Benjamin
to Edward Blandy and then in 1721 there was dponnes map of 1826 both show the dock. However
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Plate 20'Neill’ s 1822 view of the Limekiln Dock fom the south
Braikenridge Collection, Bristol City Museum and Art Gallery
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Plate 3Rowbotham’s 1826 watecolour view from the south
Brakenridge Collection, Bristol City Museum and Art Gallery
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neither gives much detail of any
surrounding structures, although Dorme’
plan does mark a coal yard to the west ¢
the dock. A drawing by O’Neill (1822,
Plate 2), and a watercolour by Rowbothar
(1826, Plate 3), both depict two buildings
to the west of the dock.

Plumley andAshmeads plan of 1828 (Fig
3) shows several structures around t
dock. The buildings to the extreme west
the site are probably associated with th
coal yard shown on DonrgplanA later
plan of 1852 within the lease document
for the Limekiln Dock, when the Society
of MerchantVenturers leased the property
to Mr. Charles Hill, refers to these build-

ings as an Engine and Boiler house, Stean

Kiln and ‘Old Mill’ (Fig 6), also referred

to as a ‘Grist Mill'. The schedule refers to

the:
‘Steaming Kiln for bending plank, con-
sisting of a squar tube ofAmerican
Pine bout 30 feet long and 2 feet sqiar
in the cleay with framing and binding
of the odinary constuction, and a
boiler and file place for generating and
conveying steam.

The plan shows the positions of the paris
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Fig 6 1852 plan of Limekiln Dock showing Charles Hills 1857

Also contained in the documents are a le{gig/&>
ter and plan dated 1857 regarding th e X
enlagement of the dock northwards to-
wards the road (also Fig 6). The plan shows$
three buildings to the east of the dock off £
land held by the Cathedral but also leasg#*”
to Charles Hill. These three buildings arg_

shown on Plumley anAshmeads map

(Fig 3) and are from north to south; a cot| -

tage with garden, a warehouse arfite$

with saw-pits underneath and a snsth’ 'y 7

shop, nearest the harboliralso indicates

that the ‘Old Mill'’ and engine house had|fzz %

been converted into one ¢gr warehouse,

the former engine house containing a stea|f;

engine and pump3o the north of the mill

are the ‘Pitch Pots’. All these buildings|—

both east and west of the dock are indica
tive of an active dockyard. It is unlikely
that Charles Hill ever extended the dock
so that it remained too small to accommo

date the majority of 19th century ShipSFig 7 First edition OS map of 1883 showing the larger dock
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This meant that, through lack of work, by the 1870Blumley andAshmeads map and the 1883 OS map.
the gates were unworkable and dockyard activitiés the early 20th century the Merchafenturers sold
ceased on the site for approximately ten years. the dock to the Gre&Vestern Railway company for
£5,000 so that the Harbour Railway could be ex-
In 1882 Jeferies took over the dock, endged it, and tended. This necessitated the infilling of the dock
fitted a new steel caisson. The first edition 25in O®hich took place between 1903-1906. A painting in
map of 1883 (Fig 7) shows thedar dock and the Bristol Industrial Museum (Plate 4), dated 6 January
same dockside buildings as Plumley Astimeads 1903, shows a Russian Barquantine,ltfes under
map. The 1883 OS map also shows the New Quegpair in the dry dock. Clearly this remained an ac-
Iron Works, also owned by Jefies & Sons, to the tive dockyard right up until the extension of the Har-
west of the dockyard buildings in the place of thbour RailwayA photograph taken from southern side
coal yard, originally shown on Donseplan. of the harbouyrduring the infilling of the dock, shows
the buildings to the west of the dock - the ‘Old Mill’
In 1893 the dock was further lengthened towardmd the engine house - still standing (Plate 1). The
Hotwells Road to the extent that: roof tiles of the engine house are being carefully re-
‘...the stem of a steamer could (within a foot) touclmoved and stockpiled on the dockside, whilst the
the inner edge of the st pavement, and the bow Steam Kiln’ may be under demolition outside the
of a sailing vessel would oveang the engine house.
pavement...horse-drawn tramcars had often been
held-up until the jibboom had beegleased and With the infilling of the dock a wharf was constructed
hoisted up or the vessel drawn back against tredong the harbourside that was the first example in
caisson, befa being able to pass.’ Bristol of Mouchel-Hennebique reinforced concrete
construction. The concrete plinth and supports that
An 1887 lithograph by Lavars, on display in Bristoformed the wharf still survived at the time of the

Museum, depicts a perspective view of the Floatingkcavation and the entrance to the dock was still vis-
Harbour from the south, with a two masted sailinghle beneath the plinth.

vessel in the dry dock as well as the dockside build-

ings. These buildings include a @& double gabled After the construction of the Harbour Railway ex-
building with a verandah on the east side of the dodgnsion the area of the Limekiln Dock became a tim-

probably the cottage shown on the 1857 plan, am@r yard, remaining as such until late 1998.
the building along the north east street frontage on
i 3

Plate 4Painting dated 6 January 1903, looking south Bristol Industrial Museum
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Archaeological Backgound All these pieces of archaeological fieldwork have re-
haeoloaical fiel K h K . vealed a similar sequence of post-medieval events
No archaeological fieldwork has taken place in thgi, the marsh being drained and the ground surface

:jmmkeqlollate V'C'nr']ty ofbthe site. Howe\_/,emhmilar raised in the 18th century by the dumping of over
ockside areas have been excavated in the CaNOY5 1, o material in which later industrial features

Marsh area to the east and have revealed@dpran- | ..« peen found
tity of significant industrial archaeological remains

a few of which are summarised below Other archaeological projects carried out on the Bris-

An evaluation on the site of the Harbourside Centt®l Docks include a photographic survey of the
(Bristol Urban Archaeological Database (BUAD)AIbion Dock (BUAD 3344), which had also been
No. 3300) revealed part of the Albert Dry Dock oPwned by the Hilhouse/Hill ship building company
19th century date. An excavation beneath the form@pd a rapid appraisal of the Gréégstern Dock and
U-Shed (BUAD 464) revealed a stretch of a medievBprbour wall (BUAD 3316). The former noted that
river front wall. A watching brief carried out alongthe dock walls were constructed in a series of galler-
Canons Road (BUAD 3290) again revealed the walles approximately 0.5m wide and 1.5m high, and the
of the medieval river front, containing late 13th tdloor of the earlier part of the dock to the north was
early 14th century pottery within its fabric, its returrPf pennant sandstone slabs. The latter noted a series
forming part of the original Anchor Lane, and als®f timber piles and wooden planks within the float-
the 18th centuryTombs’ Dry Dock. An ing harbourand a line of ten lge wooden piles
archaeo|ogica| excavation on the site of N&arld surviving to helght of 0.3m above the harbour bed to
Square (BUAD 3276) discovered a potentiallyhe east of the dock entrance. Further to the east was
medieval rhine, the remains of an 18th to 19th centu@further pile and small roundwood stakes driven into
rope manufacturers and a 19th century saw mill. JRe bed of the harbour at an angle of 60 degiees.
rectified photogrammetric survey and desktop studfie east of these unfrogged bricks with signs of vitri-
of the Canorg Marsh GasVorks were carried out in fication were recovered, possibly wasters from a brick
1998 (BUAD 3339), together with a watching briefnaking facility

on the site of the demolished Governor House

(BUAD 3309). The latter noted a borehole at ST 5798he Bristol Urban Archaeological Database (Fig 8)
7246 from which artefacts of medieval date WerH}StS two sites within the area of the Limekiln Dock:
recovered from approximately -3.6m OD, indicating he dock itself (BUAD 761M) and a kiln (BUAD
the possibility of a dock or palaeochannel. Af62M) shown in the 1822 drawing by O’Neill
excavation to the west of the assessment area(:2961) (Plate 2). This shows an approximately
Pooles Wharf revealed 18th and 19th centurghree-storey high circular building to the west of the
structures associated with a deal yard. landward end of Limekiln Dock.
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Fig 8 Location plan of Bristol Urban Archaeological Database sites
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Summary of Chronology The Excavation (Fig 9, Plate 5)

The development of the site was broken down into a

least six distinct phases, on the basis of both potteRhase 1 Late 17th to mid 18th century

stratigraphic and structural evidence. These stretché@iree sondages [trenches] (Figs 10, 12) were
from the late 17th centuryhen the site was prob- opened up within the excavation area in order to ex-
ab|y a natural p||| in use as a mud dock, through fepse the sequence of stratification both within the

the infilling of the dock in 1903. dockside buildings and on the dockside itsélo
Phase 1 Late 17th to mid 18th century were excavated in the area between the dock and the
Phase 2 Mid to late 18th century buildings to the west, with a further trench (Sondage
Phase 3 Early to mid 19th century 3) placed within the former engine house. Sondages
Phase 4 1850s to 1880s 2 and 3 revealed deposits of natural river alluvium
Phase 5 1890s to 1903 (163 & 251), sealed by further deposits of reworked
Phase 6 1903 to 1906 alluvium (152, 250 & 249). Dating evidence from

\ unexcavated area
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Fig 9 Plan of excavation aea, showing structural phases
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V% Brick

Clay Mortar Iron slag El Iron object

W . E

8.45m OD
~ 7N

Z

p

x
Mortar
x X

Fig 11 South facing section, Sondage 2

Sondage 2 suggested this periodic inundation walping east to west. This was sealed by a more de-
taking place in the late 17th to 18th centibgpos- liberate deep dumped deposit (247) of brown silty
its (249 & 250), both brown silty clays containingclay with lime fragments.

significant gravel inclusions, sloped from west to

east. They were sealed by a dark brown silty loaft the base of Sondage 1 lay afdiifown clay (142)
(248), which may have formed a brief soil horizonywith mortar inclusions, possibly similar in nature to
also dating to the late 17th or early 18th century armtéposit (247) in Sondage 2. These deposits raised
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the prevailing ground level to around 7.8m OD, ancharcoal flecks and occasional angular grey pennant
probably represent a deliberate landfill/levellingandstone fragments. This formed the basis for a
operation which may have been contemporary wigurface of angular grey and red pennant sandstone
the construction of the original dry dock. Sealing thi€l38) within a matrix of grey/brown clalf had been
was a possible occupation layer (141) of dark grefieavily disturbed, but may have been an original
brown silty clay containing sherds of glass, potteryattempt to provide a stable surface along the early
iron slag and clay pipe of 18th century date. dockside. Sealing (138) was a layer of homogenous

dark grey/brown silty clay (137) with occasional grey
Above layer (141) was a possible bedding depogiennant fragments and charcoal flecks, with finds
(140) of red/yellow clay and mortacontaining dating it to the early 18th century

% K %
//A Brick Ash Clay Iron slag

7.06m OD
~

ground water level

Fig 12 West facing section, Sondage 3
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Plate 5The excavation looking north
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Phase 2 Mid to late 18th century the excavated area. BothL() and (109) are visible
Sealing layer (137) in Sondage 1 was a friable redh a photograph taken during the backfilling of the
yellow clay with occasional limestone pebbles andock between 1903-1906 (Plate 1). All three struc-
charcoal fragments, overlain by pockets of a friabkeires were mainly pennant sandstone constructions,
black sandy clay (135). Above these lay a deposit wfith brick repairs to the upper courses, and all abut-
friable grey/brown silty clay (132), containing rareged wall (1L.6) to the west. (@0) and (11) were of
brick fragments and small angular pieces of grey pebroadly similar dimensions, with angled openings,
nant sandstone. or embrasures, through walll@) allowing light into

the basement of the mill. Structure (109) was longer
A similar layer (246) of brown silty clawith inclu-  east-west, accommodating a set of stone steps (122)
sions of brick rubble and pennant stone, sealéghding down into the basement. Some of the timber
dumped deposit (247) in Sondage 2. Again, thes@rface of the steps was preserved, as was some of
layers appear to relate to another phase of grougié wooden window frame within lightwell 11).
levelling activity Part of an associated paved surfac)Isurvived

between (10) and (11), for which (1.8) formed the

The construction of the western walls of the ‘Ol edding layer

Mill’ (200), and engine house (202) (Fig 13), appear

to pre-date the construction of the rest of thesghe eastern wall () of the mill was constructed
bUIldIngSW&” (200) was constructed in irregularfrom rough|y hewn square blocks of green, grey and
courses of roughly hewn grey pennant sandstopgy pennant sandstone bonded with friable grey/white
700mm wide, bonded with a fuhortar containing  |ime mortar randomly coursed, and with regular em-
frequent flecks of white lime. The eastern face wasrasures for lightwells and access to the basement
rendered with a thick coating of white lime mortarfrom the dockside. The wall continued at the base of
and contained four slots in its upper courses for th&ch embrasure, was 670mm in width, and was keyed
insertion of timber floor joists for the ground floor into a southern return wall (120) (Fig 16) of similar
Traces of rotten wood still survived within the slotsyidth and constructionVall (120) abutted wall (200)
Beneath this the wall face sloped considerably fropg the west, which together with walli@), and a
west to east, probably to aid the stability of thgrey pennant flagstone floor (201), formed the base-
building. Wall (202) appeared to be the southerfent of the mill building. Drainage was provided by

continuation of (200), with no clear break inmeans of a west-east gully running along the south-
construction. Howevewall (202) was narrower than grn edge of (201).

(200), at 550mm wide, and although rendered in the
same way the east face did not slope from west Tthe east wall of the engine housé4}) (Figs 14 &

east in the same fashion as (200). 15), and its southern continuation (236), seem likely
_ to be contemporary with that of the milll@), al-
Phase 3 Early to mid 19th century though Phase 4 alterations had removed the

Above (132) in Sondage 1 lay a thin layer of friablge|ationship between the two. It was keyed in with
red/brown clay with occasional inclusions of red penn internal east-west wall (207), which abutted wall
nant sandstone, sealed by a thin spread of loose grgxJ2) to the west. The walls were of similar width to
yellow sand and gravel (131), which also occurreghat of the northern wall (120), and were again
above (247) in Sondage 2. Another thin deposit (128hnded with a friable grey lime mortavith the ex-

of friable dark greyish brown silty clay (124), coneption of (207) which had a distinctive beige sandy
taining occasional water worn pebbles, brick and tilgortar with lage charcoal flecksTo the south of
fragments, overlay (131). A thin, patchy spread afall (207) was a break in wall 1) for the sliding
friable grey/white lime mortar (128) sealed (124) andoor indicated in the various illustrations and photo-
lay beneath a friable dark grey/brown clay&iwith  graphs (Plates 1,2,3,4). The southern continuation
small stone, brick and tile fl’agments. This SeaIEd(236) was truncated by the construction of the con-
construction cut (144) for a lightwell 11) on the crete decking (see above) between 1903-1906, which

east side of the ‘Old Mill’ basement, which was ﬁ"eq'emoved the southernmost 3-4 metres of the engine
with hard grey mortatbrick and pennant stone.  house.

The lightwell (111) formed one of three such rectanTg the west of, and abutting wall (200) at the north-
gular projections to the east of walll@), the east- ern limit of the excavation area lay an east-west wall
ern wall of the ‘Old Mill’ (Figs.14 & 15), along with (212), 460mm in width, possibly the southern return
(109) and (10). The 1883 OS 1:500 survey showsf a building shown oAshmead & Plumley 1828

four such I|ghtW€”S, the fourth Iylng to the north Ofmap (F|g 3) This was constructed from rough|y hewn
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grey and green pennant sandstone, with a hard gragtess point to the lower galleries. It may also have
white lime mortar containing flecks of charcoal. served a dual purpose, providing a slot for timbers to
support the vessel within the dry dock.
Phase 4 1850s to 1880s
Considerable modernisation of the dock was taking surface (105) of friable grey/black cindery mate-
place during this Phase, as indicated by the doaual was laid between the dock and mill. This ap-
mentary evidence, and it was at this time that thgeared to form the ground surface between the dock
dock was lagely refurbished. Much of the pavedand mill for the rest of its working life, and exhib-
surface (12) appears to have been removed, prior fted signs of wear such as an apparent wheel rut (139).
the construction of a new wall (107) between th€&his had been repaired (106) with a deposit of firm
dockside and the mill. Only the footings of this wergellow/grey sandy lime mortar and red clayith
evident in Sondage 1, sealing layet&), although inclusions of brick and stone rubble.
it was clearly visible on the photograph taken during
the backfilling of the dock (Plate 1) and is indicate@ther major alterations within this phase included
on the 1883 OS map (Fig 7)o the east of this a the conversion of the mill and engine house into one
new cobbled drain (143), a cobbled surface amglarlarge warehouse, and the construction of new build-
coping stones (123) were laid, forming the westelings immediately to the west. The southern return
edge of the dock. The surface sloped down to drajh20) of wall (1.6) was partially demolished, as was
(143), to carry rainwater away from the dry dock anthe northern end of the engine house wak{j1New
down the slope into the floating harbour brick quoins were constructed for wallsLl@) and
(114), and a new wall (1B) with a possible fireplace
The coping stones of (123) weredarsquare blocks and brick arch (164) on the east side of the engine
of grey pennant sandstone, up to 700mm by 600nmmouse wall were constructed in association with a
by 260mm, and were bonded with a hard black monew vertical boilerThe base of the boiler (133) sur
tar or cement. They formed the surface of the upperived as three Ige slabs of grey pennant sandstone
most gallery along the western side of the dock. fPlate 7), placed on a bed of re-used iron sheets (134),
large step (Plate 6) was set into the dock wall (128yesumably salvaged during repair work on a ship in
at the northern end of the excavation area, and #te dry dock. The size of the iron sheets suggests a
though very deep this was probably intended as post-1850 date, as the technology to roll suchelar

Plate 6Step set into side of dock wall (123), looking west
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sheets of metal was unlikely to have been availabdepossible water tank (203) survived to the south.
in the first half of the centurfhe small vent for the Traces of a brick vaulted roof survived, and the inte-
boiler is evident in Plate 1. A cut (154), for groundior was lined with a hard, black rend€o the north
raising and subsequent insertion of the iron sheets)d south the return walls (204) and (205) abutted
was revealed in Sondage 3. It was filled with a bladke west face of wall (200), which formed the back
silty ash, with frequent inclusions of iron slag (155)wall of the tankTogether with wall (204) a wall to
An unexcavated cut (168), to the east of arch (164he south (206) may have been the base of the chim-
appeared to lead via a collapsed culvert (167) inton@y shown on the early 20th century photograph
brick manhole (166), and from there down to théPlate 1).
floating harbour
Within the interior of the engine house was a brick
An apparent doorway through wall (120) into thduilt rectangular structure (235) with four square
engine house from the mill basement was bricked wpenings. Its function was uncleaithough it may
(216) during this phase, and vertical iron re-enfordtave been a base for a horizontal boierperhaps
ing rods were incorporated within the blocking. Rean engine. This abutted wall (236) to the east, and
moval of the blocking revealed that the iron sheetsead a south running return on its west side.
(208 & 134) forming the floor surface of the engine
house had been constructed above gelaubble Phase 5 1890s to 1903
dump, probably the reason for cut (154) to the southhe entrance (109) into the basement of the mill from
the dockside was blocked (130) during this phase,
Expansion of the premises to the west was under wagcess presumably being gained now via the engine
during this phase, with a new doorway being creatémuse, and began to silt up (121). It continued in use
through wall (200). A new brick door jamb (209)as a lightwell, as did (D) and (11), although these
was inserted, just to the south of wall (212), with theere also beginning to fill up with silty deposits (100-
lower courses of (200) re-used as the threshold (21@D4) which were washing down from the dockside.
A floor surface (21), consisting of thin slabs of grey
pennant sandstone and oolitic limestone, extend@dthin the engine house the internal division (207)
to the west. Many of these features had been trumay have been demolished prior to the insertion of a
cated during the demolition of the buildings, althoughectangular brick pit (224), possibly a base for an-

Plate 7Boiler base (133) looking east
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other engine or pump. A flat iron joist straddled thevhich in turn overlay a possibly redeposited timber
centre of the pit, with a short length of chain sudeature (232) of unknown origin.
pended from a hook beneath it, and an iron pipe
passed beneath its east wall, through Sondage 3. TWighin the basement of the mill a small wall, or but-
apparently passed below the east wall of the builttess (213) was built at the intersection of walls (200)
ing and out into the dock through a nelightly set- and (120), presumably owing to structural defects
back brick section of dock walling (165), lying withincaused by the partial demolition of the cross wall
a brick lined conduit (145) in which two pipes werg120). A drain (214) ran north-south across the top
evident. The cut (148) and primary fill (147) for (145)pf the buttress, and appeared to drain south into an
were visible in Sondage 2, and the conduit was filleapening through (120), beneath floor surface (208).
(146) with a mixed, loosely compacted black claye¥his would indicate that (213) provided the base of
silt. The section of new dock wall is visible in Platea down pipe within the mill. Beneath (213) was a
5, and may well have related to the pumping of thgartially truncated brick and stone footing (215), pos-
dock, although the pipe (159) was only 120mm isibly belonging to an earlier buttress in the same lo-
diameter and seems inadequate for such a functi@ation. An attempt to repair wall (120), with a loose
The new section of dock walling does appear vesection of grey and green pennant sandstone bonded
deep in the photograph, which suggests a possiblih grey/white mortar (219), also seems to have been
adit at the base of the dock. Structure (224) and pipeade at this time.
(159) may therefore relate to the drive mechanism
for pumping the dock dry To the west of the mill a number of deposits (245-
240) appear to have been dumped above the floor
Pipe (159) lay within a foundation trench cut (153surface (21) to raise the ground surface up to the
161) revealed in Sondage 3. It was laid upon a brickmaining level of wall (212). The final deposit (240),
base (162) and the trench was subsequently backfillethuf sandy mortgmmay have been the bedding layer
with three fills, the first a deposit of black ash (157for a robbed flag floor surface in the area between
with frequent inclusions of lge iron slag. Sealing walls (212) and (200).
this was a mixed brown silty clay (156) with inclu-
sions of grey mortabeneath a mixed black silty ashPhase 6 1903 to 1906
(158) which overlay (159). Sealing these layers arlloose grey/white friable ashy mortar (233) sealing
abutting the east wall of the engine house was a pldeyer (223) and wall (207) represented part of the
tic dark brown silty clay (228), containing frequengeneral sequence of demolition and backfilling of
mortar and charcoal fragments, occasional brick rutike dock, mill and engine house in the early 20th
ble and iron slag. This also abutted a layer of friablsentury A loose black ashy silt (234) sealed wall
black crushed coal (221) to the west, which spred@02) to the west, and a very similar deposit (237)
over the floor surface (208) of the northern part dflled the possible chimney structure (204/206). Fill-
the engine house. Above (221) lay a layer of comrg the water tank (203) was another identical de-
roded iron sheeting (227), encrusted with a hard gregsit (238). The rectangular brick structure (224) was
mortar (226). As well as layer (221) the floor surfilled with a loose grey/black mortar/coke deposit
face (208) was covered with a layer of crushed lim@39), very similar to the general landfilll@) that
(220) with frequent charcoal fragments to the westpvered most of the excavation area. The tip lines
abutting wall (202). within the landfill suggested that the eastern walls
(116 & 114) of the two buildings were removed first,
To the south, a timber beam (225) running nortland the buildings then filled from the dockside - per-
south overlay wall (207). It was not clear whethenaps with surplus material from the infilling of the
this was an original feature of wall (207), perhaps @ock itself.
floor joist, or whether it had been inserted following
the demolition of the wall, perhaps in relation to somBiscussion
form of engineTo the east of this a spread of darkrhe evidence from Phase 1 would seem to suggest
grey/black ashy mortar (223), upon a possible begeriodic inundation on the site up until the late 17th
ding layer (231) of brown gravel, covered the groungr early 18th centuryThis is likely to be the case
surface both within and outside the door into thever many areas of Cansn\iarsh, where a stable
engine house, slightly overlying feature (224). Thignvironment did not really exist until the creation of
appears to represent the latest floor surface in ttiee Floating Harbour between 1804 and 1809. The
engine house prior to its demolition in 1903. It sealeglidence from Sondage 2 may be indicative of the
a thin black ashy silt (230), similar in nature to (221)yse of a natural pill as a mud dock, with a soil hori-
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zon (248) forming on the banks. The subsequent, groposal for the creation of a new floating harbour
parently deliberate, ground raising at the end of the 1792 (Fig 4) shows a new drain running south
17th century shows that this particular area was rigem the dock, beneath the floating harhagross
claimed at a relatively early stage in the develope the new cut. Clearlyhe draining of the dock was
ment of the marsh, and this probably relates to tsemething which needed consideration in the con-
construction of the dry dock by John Evans. The exagtruction of the floating harbouas it could no longer
nature of that dock, built by 1710, is unknown, ake emptied by simply opening the caisson at low tide.
the enlagement of the dock in the late 19th centuryater docks on the south side of the harpsuch as
has almost certainly removed any evidence of itee Albion dry dock, were drained via adits leading
predecessor from the base of the dock across to the new cut, as

suggested byrombs’ plan. Howeversuch a drain
Evidence of the house built by Evans may come frofiym the Limekiln dock would have proved afdif
the view of the dock illustrated in Plate 3. The tal}; and expensive engineering feat. Whilst a simi-
building to the right of the dock, fronting onto|g; scheme may have been completedTiombs’
Hotwells Road, is the only structure shown to thgock to the east, there is no evidence to suggest this
west of the dock on Rocqueel 742 plan (Fig 2).t8-  ayer took place at the Limekiln dock. The closure of
listically, it appears to be arelatively early 18th cénne dockyard following the completion of the Float-
tury structure, although possibly modified by the timg,q Harbour is a strong indication that no such drain
of the painting. Itis certainly the strongest candidaigjsted at this time. The only way to drain the dock
for the house known to have been built by Evangyw was by pumping it drwhich logically leads to
before 1710. the construction of a building to house the steam
Limited evidence, based on the bonding materia&r\ngine and pumps. Accqrding to_the Ieasgs this was
may exist to suggest that the western walls of tk?é(aC“y the kind of machinery being used in the en-
‘Old Mill’, and perhaps the engine house, were buif"® house by the 1850s.
in Phase 2. No such structures are shown on Rcs:quf

the time of Hills proposal to extend the dock in
57, the engine house and mill appear to have been
onverted into one lge warehouse, which is borne

plan, and it can only be surmised that these wa
may have been constructed between the mid 18th

early 19th century - perhaps initially as a boundar : :
. . ut by the evidence for Phase 4. It seems unlikely
wall of the dockyard. Howeveit may simply be that IIlhat the dividing wall (120) between the mill and

different mortars were being used during the con-_"_. i
: . ngine house was totally demolished, but a new open-
struction process, or even that there was an interrup- . ;

was certainly made at the eastern end, with new

tion of a few weeks, months or even years during thes .
building work. The uncertainty about the future OP ”gk A(\qtutcr)]ms (;5/]#;) forntr:,\elz ﬂeasrterr:fwalls Mn/ ist.
the dockyard, caused by the creation of the Floatir.;nL )- € Same ime a new Tioor surtace, consis

Harbour could have put such a building project o %h(')f :ﬁlgensr;ﬁets of |ro$hsh$i)zdec]1<;tr1lg, was Iatld |
hold. That Hilhouse & Co. received compensatio\r’1vI N (e engine house. TNe size of these SNeets also

for being unable to use the dock does suggest tﬁéi'lggeStS they were rolled some time after 1850.

the yard lay disused for some time. During Phase 4 the edge of the dock was refurbished

Hilhouse & Co. were leasing the dockyard in 180 ith large pennant blocks (1.23)’ bonded with a hard
. lack mortar or cement typical of the late 19th cen-

and may have used some of the compensation the o . .
ury. This is almost certainly the work carried out by

received in completing the construction of the mil :
and engine house. The mill is identified as a ‘Gris eferies & Co. around 1882, and shown on the 1883

Mill’ on some of the leases, which suggests it ma S map (Fig 7). By this time th_e archaeological evi
oo ._dence suggests that the premises were expanding to
have been used for grinding corn and other agricyj- . : .
pe west of the mill and Engine house, into the area

tural produce. It seems likely that by the 1850s th S
has become a general warehouse for the dockya%l,the former coal yard. The new buildings formed

as indicated on Charles Hslplan proposing to ex- part of Jeferies’ New Quay IronWorks, which are

tend the dock in 1857, hence the term ‘Old MiII’.aISO shown on the 1883 OS map.

The yard may therefore have been used temporarwithin the engine house a new vertical boiler (133)

for processing agricultural produce, whilst the doc . s .
P g ag P was inserted for powering the Steam Kiln shown on

itself lay idle in the early part of the 19th century Hill’s plan (Fig 6)This was used for steaming tim-

The construction and function of the engine house ks, enabling them to be shaped for use in boat build-
crucial in the history of the dock. Richafdmbs’ Ing and repairA brick structure, (235), may have
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formed the base for a new pump, engine or boiler fBgRASArchaeoIogicaI Excavation at U-Shed, Carsolfarsh,
pumping the dock drirhis may have been modified Bristol. BA/E245, 1996.

. . .BaRASArchaeological Evaluation at the gposed site of The
or replaced in Phase 5 by the addition of another bnﬁgrbourside Cent, Canors Marsh, Bristol Report 398/1998.

structure (224), with associated narrow pipe runsarasArchaeologicaWatching Brief at Canos’Road, Can-
linking it to a new section of brick-built dock wall- on's Marsh, Bristol, Report 406/1998b.
ing. Again the hard black mortar suggested a lateox S.,Archaeological E>_<cavation on t_he site of NewrlV/
19th century date. The new section of dock wall doéﬁ”‘?‘e’ Canors Marsh, Bristol, forthcoming. .

. .. rskine, J.Archaeological Excavation at Poate¥Wharf, Bris-
not appear on the 1883 OS map, but is visible a3R forthcoming.
deep inset feature in Plate 1. It cuts deep into tgder Consulting Ltd. Area A1 Anchor Road, Bristol,
side of the dock, and ag;g pipe appears to run intoGeotechnical and Envanmental Interpetative Repdr 1997.

it. There may have been an adit at the base of tHgd: J- and Southam, Xhe Floating Harboura Landscape
History of Bristol City Docks1983.

dock, Wl_th Iage PIpes Capable_Of extracting the WaManco, J. British Gas Popetties Re-usé\nalysis Appendix
ter at this point. The narrow pipe run (159) extend:: ‘Historical Background in Bristol Harbourside, Caron’
ing from structure (224) may have been associatetrsh’, 1995.

with the production of steam for driving a pump setonsford, M., “The Ceramics int.S3artholomews Hospital,
into the dockside. Bristol’ in Price R.,The Excavation of a Medieval Hospital:

1976-8 CBA Report,110, (1998).

The evidence for the doakinfilling and demolition Progress Commerc&he Ports of the Bristol Channdal93
Qf_the mill and engine hOl_Jse in F_’h_ase 6 suggests B'&uments consulted at the Society of Mehant
filling of the dock began first. This is supported by &gnturers
close inspection of Plate 1, which reveals that the jacob dawilstar, A suvey with its efeences of the manor
large spoil heap to the east is being used to fill the of Clifton in the County of Gloucester being part of the es-
dock from that side. A section of high dock walling tﬁtesc F:elofngif_‘gt tflt;lzéncorporated Society ofdflants in
H e CIty Oof bris .

to.the eastappears to hav.e been demolished to aI_IOWtLeaseg relatingqto Limekiln Dock (Box 6, bundle 10 and
this to take place, and this was supported by trial 37
trenching by Churngold Ltd. to find the eastern side
of the dock wall. Further north the wall was found t®ocuments consulted in Bristol Record Office (BRO)
survive fairly close to the surface, but in the area Bog'éif Sl:rVeﬁsBaD? T'gnthfdesltaEeé/lsgzging to the Dean

H H an apter or pristol Cathedral, .
shown on the_photogr_aph it had been disturbed and Collins, Cpaptain GThe RiverAvon flom the Severn to the
only re-deposited coping stones were revealed. Fol- iy of Bristo| 1693.
lowing the filling of the dock, the eastern walls of
the mill and engine house were demolished, and tM&aps and Panoramas consulted in Bristol City Mu-
basement and ground floor of the two buildings fillegeum and Art Gallery
with material tipped from the dockside. This indi- Millerd, An exact delineation of the famous City of Bristol

. . with its suburbs, 1673.
cates that the levelling of the site progressed from Millerd, The City of Bristol (a perspective view), 1673.

east to west. Rocque, A Plan of the City of Bristol, 1742.

. . . Benning, Map of Bristol, 1780.
The photographic evidence in Plate 1 also proves popnea plan of Richardombs’proposals for a ‘Floating

that the construction of the Mouchel-Hennebique Harbour, 1792.
reinforced concrete decking was well under way Matthews, City and Suburbs of Bristol including Hotwells
before the dock had been filled. A piling rig can be nd Clifton, 1815. .
seen in the forearound. as can several unstandin Donne, A Plan of Bristol, Clifton and Hotwells, 1826.
g v . P gLavars, Perspective lithograph of Bristol, 1887.
capstans of the new decking. The timescale for the
infilling of the dock can therefore only be placedther maps and plans consulted
within the three years of 1903-1906, by which time Plumley and Ashmead, Plan of the City of Bristol and its

the levelling for the Harbour Railway had been Suburbs,1828.
Ordnance Surveyirst edition 25in map, (1883).
completed.

Ordnance Survey 1:1250 plans, (1949 and 1964).

The Finds

Details of pottery finds, small finds and clay pipe, also presented
in the report have not been included here

Sources

Reports and Books

Bristol and Regiorchaeological Services (BaRAB)chaeo-
logical Desktop Study of Bristol Harbourside DevelopnmgAt,
D 133/134, 1995.
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